© Adis International Limited. All rights reserved

Does Allergen Immunotherapy Alter the Natural Course of Allergic Disorders?

Xi Yang

Immune Regulation of Allergy Research Group, Departments of Medical Microbiology and Immunology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Manitoba, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada

Contents

Abstract
1. Rationale for Allergen Immunotherapy
2. Efficacy and Tolerability of Allergen Immunotherapy
2.1 Effect on the Natural Course of Allergy
2.1.1 Long Term Effects
2.1.2 Effects in Children
2.2 Tolerability
3. Immunological Changes Following Allergen Immunotherapy
3.1 Antibody Responses
3.2 Cytokine and T Cell Responses
3.3 Other Immune Responses
4. Conclusion

Abstract

Allergy in patients with atopy is caused by clinical adverse reactions to environmental antigen, which is often associated with allergen-specific immunoglobulin (Ig)E production. Since allergy reflects an inappropriate immunological reaction, a therapeutic approach related to immunology is likely to actively alter the natural course of allergic disorders. Allergen immunotherapy, known at various times as desensitisation or hyposensitisation, is very recently defined by the World Health Organization as therapeutic vaccines for allergic diseases.

At present, it has become a common clinical practice in selected patients for the treatment and prevention of the recurrence of allergic disorders caused by insect venoms and has proven to be effective in changing the course of allergic responses induced by grass and tree pollen, animal hair and dander, house dust mite and mold, as demonstrated by improvement in clinical symptoms, skin prick test and medication scores. Reported effects of allergen immunotherapy on the natural course of allergic disorders include (i) prevention of reaction following re-sting in insect venom allergy; (ii) prevention or decrease the rate of the natural progress of allergic rhinitis to asthma; and (iii) inhibition of new sensitisation in monosensitised children.

Many aspects of the immune responses associated with allergic disorders, including antibody production, cytokine secretion, T cell activation and local inflammatory reactions, are found to be significantly altered during and/or after

immunotherapy. Specifically, the ratio of allergen-specific IgG4 to IgG1 correlates well with positive clinical outcome caused by allergen immunotherapy in patients with pollen-allergy. Allergen immunotherapy affects the cytokine profile of allergen-specific T cells and switches $T_{\rm H}2$ type immune responses in patients with atopy towards $T_{\rm H}0$ or $T_{\rm H}1$ type responses. Although the changes in the absolute value of $T_{\rm H}1$ or $T_{\rm H}2$ cytokines appear quite variable, the increase in the ratio of $T_{\rm H}1/T_{\rm H}2$ cytokines is very consistent among published reports, especially in the late stage of treatment.

Accumulating evidence indicates that appropriate immunotherapy prevents the onset of new sensitisation and prevents the progress of allergic rhinitis to asthma. Although the changes in B cell and T cell responses, especially IgG antibodies and T_H1/T_H2 cytokine production, may be the major mechanism underlying the clinical efficacy of allergen immunotherapy and the prevention of the development of allergic phenotypic changes, multiple mechanisms may be involved in the outcome of alteration of the natural course of allergic disorders.

Allergic disorders refer to clinical adverse reactions to environmental antigens (allergens), which are often associated with allergen-specific immunoglobulin (Ig)E production. The current practice for treatment and prophylaxis of allergic diseases consists of (i) environmental control; (ii) pharmacological management; (iii) public education; and, in selected cases, (iv) allergen immunotherapy. Although avoidance of allergens is the most effective means to prevent allergic reactions, it is often difficult to achieve, especially for inhalant allergens. Pharmacological management, using drugs such as topical corticosteroids, bronchodilators, antihistamines and other antagonists of vasoactive mediators released from mast cells and basophils has proven to be highly effective in the prevention and control of allergic symptoms, but it can not cure or alter the natural course of allergic diseases.

1. Rationale for Allergen Immunotherapy

Since allergy reflects an inappropriate immunological reaction, a therapeutic approach related to immunology is likely to actively alter the natural course of allergic disorders. The largely empirical development of allergen immunotherapy happened in an era with little knowledge of immunology. As early as 1911, Noon and Freeman^[1,2] reported that serial subcutaneous injections with gradually increased doses of pollen extracts ameliorated the symptoms associated with grass pollen-induced allergic rhinitis. This therapeutic approach, known at various times as desensitisation or hyposensitisation and more commonly as allergen immunotherapy, is very recently defined by the World Health Organization as therapeutic vaccines for allergic diseases.^[3]

In general, conventional allergen immunotherapy consists of the administration of slowly increasing quantities of antigen over an extended period of time, up to 3 to 5 years. Its aim is to induce a degree of clinical tolerance, or lowered sensitivity to the particular allergen, leading to a decrease in clinical symptoms and requirement for pharmacological medications. At present, allergen immunotherapy has become a common clinical practice in selected patients for the treatment and prevention of the recurrence of allergic disorders caused by insect venoms and inhalant allergens. In particular, venom immunotherapy has been accepted as the standard of care for Hymenoptera-induced systemic allergic reactions.^[4] This article reviews recent progress in studying the efficacy of allergen immunotherapy and the mechanisms of this therapeutic approach with an emphasis on its influence on the natural course of allergic disorders.

2. Efficacy and Tolerability of Allergen Immunotherapy

Allergen immunotherapy has proven to be effec-

tive in changing the course of IgE-associated immediate hypersensitivity caused by a large number of allergens including, but not limited to, grass and tree pollen, [5-10] animal hair and dander, [11-14] insect venoms, [4,15,16] house dust mite (HDM)[17-19] and mold. [20,21] For most reports, the parameters examined include improvement in the clinical symptoms, skin prick test and medication scores. Typically, after it has been given for long enough, allergen immunotherapy decreases the frequency and duration of symptoms, improves the quality of life and, in some cases, diminishes the requirement for pharmacological medications in patients with allergies.

Venom and pollens (grass and tree) represent the most extensively tested allergens in immunotherapy. Venom immunotherapy shows more than 90% efficacy^[4] and most double-blind, placebocontrolled studies using pollens show significant improvement in clinical symptoms. A study by Durham et al.[22] recently showed long term clinical efficacy of grass-pollen immunotherapy after the discontinuation of treatment in a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. During the 3 years of this trial, scores for seasonal symptoms and medication and the late skin response remained low after the discontinuation of immunotherapy, and there was no significant difference between patients who continued immunotherapy and those who discontinued it. Malling[23] recently analysed more than 40 controlled rhinitis immunotherapy studies published since 1980 and found significantly better improvement in clinical symptoms in the active group than in the placebo group in 80% of the reported studies.

Similarly, clinically relevant efficacy was documented in 12 out of the 16 controlled asthma studies. [23] A meta-analysis of 20 randomised, placebocontrolled, double-blind clinical trials of allergen immunotherapy for asthma showed that the combined odds of symptomatic improvement were 3.2 [95% confidence interval (CI) 2.2 to 4.9] and the combined odds for reduction in bronchial hyperresponsiveness were 6.8 (95% CI 0.43 to 1.00), indicating that allergen immunotherapy is a useful

treatment option in highly selected patients with allergic asthma.^[24]

2.1 Effect on the Natural Course of Allergy

Reported effects of allergen immunotherapy on the natural course of allergy include (i) prevention of reaction following re-sting in insect venom allergic patients; (ii) prevention or decrease the rate of the natural progress of allergic rhinitis to asthma; and (iii) inhibition of new sensitisation in monosensitised children.

The best results showing the alteration of the natural course of allergy caused by allergen immunotherapy are documented in insect venom immunotherapy. One study^[25] investigating the natural history of insect sting allergy revealed that 220 patients with a history of venom anaphylaxis had a reaction rate after the first re-sting of 56%, with adults having a higher incidence of reaction (74%) than children (40%). The rate of reaction appeared unrelated to time interval since the initial sting reaction and the severity of reaction after re-sting was correlated with that following initial sting. A similar rate (50 to 60%) of reaction caused by resting was observed in several other studies.^[26-28]

The natural course of insect venom allergy can be efficiently blocked by venom immunotherapy. A well-controlled study comparing the efficiency of venom immunotherapy with placebo demonstrated remarkable efficacy of the therapy in decreasing the rate of allergic reaction to a deliberate sting challenge. [29] The allergic reaction rate in placebo group (12 patients) was 60%, which was similar to that shown in other studies, whereas the reaction was observed in only 5% of the 18 patients treated with venom immunotherapy following resting. Several other trials have also shown a high efficacy with venom immunotherapy with few failures, confirming the significant effectiveness of this therapy in altering the natural course of venom allergy.[30]

2.1.1 Long Term Effects

The long term effect following treatment represents the most typical alteration of the natural course of allergy caused by allergen immunother-

apy. Mosbech and Osterballe^[31] reported that the clinical effect lasted for 6 years after termination of immunotherapy. In patients with asthma caused by allergy to animal dander, the effect of immunotherapy using cat or dog allergen extracts was found to persist for 5 years after termination of immunotherapy.^[32] More recently, Jacobsen et al.^[33] studied the long term effect of tree pollen extract immunotherapy by following up the symptom scores and skin tests in 36 patients in 6 years after a 3-year course of immunotherapy. The data showed that 86% of the patients with rhinitis and 68% of the patients with asthma maintained improvement after termination of the therapy. The skin sensitivity of the patients decreased significantly during therapy, and the skin reactions 6 years after the treatment were still significantly lower than the pretreatment levels.

One significant aspect of the long term effect of allergen immunotherapy is the prevention of the progress of allergic rhinitis to asthma. A link between allergic rhinitis and atopic asthma has been demonstrated in numerous epidemiological studies. It is reported that 25 to 43% of the patients experiencing rhinitis naturally develop asthma within 10 years, [34,35] whereas in the study by Jacobsen et al., [33] none of the patients with allergic rhinitis developed asthma over a 6-year period following termination of immunotherapy. Similarly, a study carried out in multiple centres of European countries showed that the incidence of asthma is significantly reduced following three years of allergen immunotherapy in children. [36,37]

2.1.2 Effects in Children

Encouraging data demonstrating the effects of allergen immunotherapy on the natural course of allergy also come from a 3-year follow-up survey carried out by Des Roches et al.^[38] showing prevention of the onset of new sensitivities in children with this therapy. The natural course of allergic sensitisation in children is a gradual development of sensitisation initially to food allergens followed by sensitisation to inhalant allergens.^[39-46] Sensitivity to perennial allergens including HDM seems

to appear at an earlier stage than sensitivity to seasonal allergens such as pollen.

The controlled study by Des Roches et al.^[38] followed the development of new sensitisation in 22 children monosensitised to HDM receiving allergen immunotherapy and 22 control children with monosensitisation to HDM without immunotherapy. They found that all those not treated with allergen immunotherapy developed sensitisation to other allergens such as animal dander, *Alternaria* species or pollen, whereas 45% (10 of 22) of those in the actively treated group did not develop any new sensitivity (p < 0.001). This study suggests that allergen immunotherapy can alter the natural course of allergy in children monosensitised to an allergen by preventing the development of new sensitivities.

However, children with multiple sensitivities to allergens do not seem to respond to such immunotherapy. A double-blind, placebo-controlled trial of multiple-allergen immunotherapy in 121 children with asthma with polysensitivity to allergens showed no difference between the active and placebo group in clinical symptoms, medication, or peak flow rate over a two-year period of immunotherapy. [47] A reservation in interpreting the data is that the method of simultaneous multi-allergen injection (mix of allergens for injection) used in this study was different from the standard approach which delivers single antigen.

2.2 Tolerability

Despite the broadly observed efficacy in properly selected patients, allergen immunotherapy has from the beginning presented problems with adverse effects. Controlled trials demonstrate that the effectiveness of immunotherapy on allergen-induced symptom/medication score reduction are dose related, with large doses more likely to elicit clinical improvement but greatly increasing the risk of anaphylaxis. [48,49] Largely because of the increased use of standardised allergen extracts, recent data show that, in general, allergen immunotherapy is well tolerated with rare severe cases of adverse effects. Maintenance immunotherapy is associated with

fewer adverse events than the initial treatment or build-up period.

In a recent retrospective study in Turkey, which included 1506 patients receiving allergen immunotherapy over a 12 year period, there were 125 systemic reactions in 109 patients (1 per 1813 injections), of which 52.8% were of the skin only and less than 5% showed hypotension with respiratory symptoms and skin reactions. [50] Toubi et al. [51] followed-up the adverse reactions occurring in patients attending an allergy clinic and found that out of 280 immunotherapy-treated patients, 37 (13%) developed systemic reactions, of which 70% (26 of 37) occurred during the build-up phase and 30% (11 of 37) in the maintenance phase of treatment. Severe adverse reactions developed in 5% (2 of 37) of the patients.

An interesting study investigating patient satisfaction with allergen immunotherapy revealed a contrast of poor opinion and high satisfaction after treatment, suggesting that the true efficacy and patient tolerance of allergen immunotherapy are better than patients' expectations in clinical practice. [52]

3. Immunological Changes Following Allergen Immunotherapy

In addition to the alteration in developing clinical symptoms, the underlying adverse immunological reactions in allergic disorders are also found to be changed after allergen immunotherapy. Indeed, the change in immune responses is likely to be the mechanism underlying the clinical improvement induced by allergen immunotherapy. Many aspects of the immune responses associated with allergic disorders, including antibody production, cytokine secretion, T cell activation and local inflammatory reactions are found to be significantly altered during and/or after immunotherapy.

3.1 Antibody Responses

The first observed and a commonly measured parameter indicating immunological changes caused by immunotherapy is the striking rise in IgG or 'blocking antibodies', [53-55] which is postulated by

some to prevent allergen from combining with mast cell- and basophil-bound IgE and degranulation of these cells.^[56,57] Since allergen specific IgE is the most typical antibody associated with, and in many cases mediating, immediate hypersensitivity nearly all of the reported studies investigating allergen immunotherapy examined allergen specific IgE responses during or after the termination of immunotherapy.

Decreases in allergen-specific IgE responses are observed in some studies, [58-60] but more studies do not show significant alteration in IgE responses following allergen immunotherapy, even when significant improvement in clinical symptoms and medication scores are observed. In comparison, IgG antibodies (IgG1 and IgG4), almost without exception, are increased following allergen immunotherapy. IgG1 antibody titres often rise at the beginning of treatment but tend to decline at late phase, whereas IgG4 titres remain high even several years after the termination of immunotherapy.[18,60-62] In addition to the potential mechanism that excessive allergenspecific IgG could 'block' allergens binding to the mast cell- and basophil-bound IgE, IgG antibodies induced by allergen immunotherapy can inhibit the occurrence of serum-facilitated antigen presentation (S-FAP) at very low allergen concentrations. This leads to significantly higher allergen threshold concentrations required to induce T cell proliferation and cytokine production, and thus an allergic reaction. [63] Blocking antibodies, especially IgG4 could play a role in co-crosslinking mast cell IgE and IgG receptors, thereby inhibiting the signal transduction of high affinity IgE receptor (FcåRI) for mediator release. [64] Indeed, several studies correlate the decreased symptom score with a significant increase in allergen specific IgG4 titres. [65,66]

More recently, Gehlhar et al.^[67] found that the ratio of allergen-specific IgG4 to IgG1, rather than IgG4 or IgG1 alone, correlates well with a positive clinical outcome after allergen immunotherapy in patients with pollen allergy. They argued that although the measurement of IgG4 titres has served as a 'gold standard' to assess the effectiveness of immunotherapy, the increase in IgG4 titres alone

only indicates that the immune system is responding to the treatment, and does not predict the outcome. A similar, earlier study which used crude *Phleum pratense* extracts comes to the same conclusion, again emphasising the predicative value of IgG4: IgG1.^[68] In support of this argument, some studies show a positive association between IgG4 titres and treatment failure, instead of improvement.^[69,70]

3.2 Cytokine and T Cell Responses

Currently, the most intensively investigated areas in the immune regulation of allergic disorders and the immunological changes induced by allergen immunotherapy are cytokine and T cell responses. Although deletion of allergen-specific T cells and induction of anergy by allergen treatment could be a mechanism for the effect of allergen immunotherapy, immune deviation (a shift of cytokine production patterns by allergen-specific T cells) is more widely observed. [71,72]

It is now generally accepted that atopic allergy is associated with active T cell responses to common environmental allergens that are skewed towards T_H2 cytokine production, in contrast to the T_H1 skewed responses in normal individuals.^[73,74] T_H2 cytokines especially interleukin (IL)-4, IL-5 and IL-13 have been found to be critical in the development of immediate hypersensitivity. IL-4 is essential for IgE switch and IL-13, in many cases, plays a similar role to IL-4. IL-5 is crucial for the respiratory tract eosinophilia observed in asthma and rhinitis and IL-13 appears important for bronchial mucus production.^[75] Using gene knockout mice, we recently demonstrated that endogenous IL-10 plays a role in promoting bronchial eosinophilia and mucus production in an asthma-like model.^[76] In contrast, T_H1 cytokines, particularly interferon (IFN)-γ, can inhibit IgE production and the function of T_H2 cells.^[77]

Allergen immunotherapy affects the cytokine profile of allergen-specific T cells and switches $T_H 2$ -type immune responses in patients with atopy towards $T_H 0$ - or $T_H 1$ -type immune responses. When the changes in the absolute value of individual

cytokines caused by immunotherapy are analysed, there have been some discrepancies among reported studies. Some studies find reduced IL-4 production without change in IFNγ secretion after allergen immunotherapy, [78,79] whereas others show an increase in IFNγ production. [80-82] The discrepancy may be due to the differences among the reported studies in: (i) the stimulus used for *in vitro* restimulation, i.e. polyclonal or allergen-specific; (ii) the duration of therapy and the time after therapy; and (iii) the mechanisms operating in different allergen-specific immunotherapy.

Although the changes in the absolute value of T_H1 or T_H2 cytokines were quite different, the increase in the ratio of T_H1: T_H2 cytokines appears very consistent in published reports, especially in the late stage of treatment. [78,79,83-88] We reported that treatment with chemically modified ovalbumin (OA-POL) inhibited OVA-specific IgE responses in mice, which correlated with a shift of altered allergen specific T cell cytokine patterns towards T_H1 responses as demonstrated by a significant increase in the IFNy: IL-4 ratio during or a long time after the treatment. [89,90] Benjaponpitak et al. [91] recently investigated the kinetics of change in cytokine patterns of peripheral CD4+ T cells in 6 patients with allergies during conventional allergen immunotherapy. They found that the ratio of allergenspecific IL-4: IFNγ production by CD4+ T cells from 4 of the patients receiving immunotherapy greatly increased during the period when the dose of allergen was increasing, but decreased (therefore the IFNγ: IL-4 ratio increased) after high dose maintenance therapy was achieved. In addition, they found diminished late-phase skin reactions and allergen-specific IgE levels in responding (increase of IFNy: IL-4 ratio), but not nonresponding, individuals over the course of immunotherapy.

Therefore, the T_H1: T_H2 ratio, instead of T_H1 or T_H2 cytokine alone, may be a valid indication for the effectiveness of allergen immunotherapy when it is examined in the late stage of treatment. It should be noted, however, that the changes in antibody responses after allergen immunotherapy (increase of both IgG1 and IgG4 and decrease or no

change in IgE) responses can not be fully explained by either the value of these cytokines or their ratio because it has been demonstrated that IgG4 and IgE production is dependent on T_H2 cytokines such as IL-4 and IL-13 and is down-regulated by IFN γ , [92-95] whereas IgG1 expression is sometimes promoted by IFN γ in humans. [96]

Based on the understanding of the central role of helper T cells in the initiation and regulation of immune responses to allergens, current research is directed towards improving the efficacy of allergen immunotherapy by targeting T cell responses. In addition to improving efficacy, another potential advantage of targeting T cells in immunotherapy, such as using modified allergens which can induce immune deviation in T cell levels without binding to IgE, is to improve the tolerability of the therapy because the most important tolerability problems involving the standardised allergen immunotherapy are IgE-mediated events.

3.3 Other Immune Responses

In addition to T_H1/T_H2 cytokine patterns and antibody isotypes, the changes in immune responses are also observed in other aspects after allergen immunotherapy. One recent study[97] showed downregulation of peripheral blood CD4+ and CD8+ T cell activation after 1-year of allergen immunotherapy in grass pollen-sensitive patients with asthma, demonstrated by reduction of the expression of 2 activation markers, CD25+ (the p55 IL-2 receptor) and human leucocyte antigen (HLA)-DR. A significant decrease in CD23+ expression on B cells was also observed in the study. When patients allergic to Parietaria pollen were treated with allergen immunotherapy, the concentration of tryptase (the most specific marker for mast cell activation and mediator release) in nasal lavage after provocation tests was significantly decreased, indicating a decrease in mast cell reactivity to the allergen.^[98]

The blocking antibodies induced by allergen immunotherapy also play a role in inhibiting CD4+T cell activation via a decrease in serum-facilitated allergen presentation (S-FAP), which is mediated

by allergen-specific IgE. A recent study $^{[63]}$ shows that in patients allergic to birch pollen, allergen-specific CD4+ T cells are activated by extremely low allergen concentrations *in vivo* due to S-FAP. This S-FAP of birch pollen allergen can be inhibited by long term birch immunotherapy which induces blocking antibodies, resulting in decreased proliferation of T cells and IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 and IFN γ production by allergen-specific T cells, thus inhibiting allergen-induced late phase responses. The inhibition was noted at as early as 3 to 9 months after the start of allergen immunotherapy and was mediated by the IgG fraction of the sera from actively treated patients.

Allergen immunotherapy can significantly inhibit eosinophilic inflammation in the airways of patients with asthma. In addition to inhibiting T_H2 cytokine production which enhances eosinophilia, allergen immunotherapy is able to suppress the production of factors which induce eosinophil adhesion thus inhibiting eosinophil recruitment in allergic inflammation. [99] Moreover, alteration in chemokine production such as IL-8, RANTES (the growth factor Regulated on Activation, Normal T cell Expressed and Secreted) and monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1) is also observed at various stages of allergen immunotherapy. [100]

Taken together, it is possible that specific immunotherapy exerts its beneficial effect via multiple mechanisms with variations related to the nature of allergen, the approach of treatment (dose, time and the route) and the phase of pathological changes.

4. Conclusion

Allergen immunotherapy is the only active treatment approach that may alter the natural course of allergic disorders. Accumulating evidence indicates that appropriate immunotherapy prevents the onset of new sensitisation and prevents the progress of allergic rhinitis to asthma. Although the changes in B cell and T cell responses, especially IgG antibodies and T_H1/T_H2 cytokine production, may be the major mechanism underlying the clinical efficacy of allergen immunotherapy and the

prevention of the development of allergic phenotypic changes, multiple mechanisms may be involved in the outcome of alteration of the natural course of allergic disorders.

Acknowledgements

This work was supported by a grant from the Medical Research Council of Canada (MRC) to Dr Yang (MT-14680). Dr Yang holds a salary (scholar) award from MRC.

References

- Noon L. Prophylactic inoculation for hay fever. Lancet 1911;
 1: 572
- Freeman J, Noon L. Further observations on the treatment of hayfever by hypodermic innoculation of pollen vaccine. Lancet 1911; II: 814
- Bousquet J, Lockey R, Malling HJ. Allergen immunotherapy: therapeutic vaccines for allergic diseases: a WHO position paper. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998 Oct; 102 (4 Pt 1): 558-62
- Valentine MD. Insect venom allergy: diagnosis and treatment.
 J Allergy Clin Immunol 1984 Mar; 73 (3): 299-304
- Ipsen H, Schwartz B, Wihl JA, et al. Immunotherapy with partially purified and standardized tree pollen extracts: III. Specific IgE response to the major allergens of alder, birch and hazel pollen during immunotherapy. Allergy 1988 Jul; 43 (5): 370-7
- Rak S, Lowhagen O, Venge P. The effect of immunotherapy on bronchial hyperresponsiveness and eosinophil cationic protein in pollen-allergic patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988 Sep; 82 (3 Pt 1): 470-80
- Varney VA, Gaga M, Frew AJ, et al. Usefulness of immunotherapy in patients with severe summer hay fever uncontrolled by antiallergic drugs. BMJ 1991 Feb 2; 302 (6771): 265-9
- Walker SM, Varney VA, Gaga M, et al. Grass pollen immunotherapy: efficacy and safety during a 4-year follow-up study. Allergy 1995 May; 50 (5): 405-13
- Osterballe O, Lowenstein H, Norn S, et al. Immunotherapy with grass pollen major allergens: immunological results from a prospective 3-year double blind study. Allergy 1982 Oct; 37 (7): 491-501
- Olsen OT, Frolund L, Heinig J, et al. A double-blind, randomized study investigating the efficacy and specificity of immunotherapy with Artemisia vulgaris or Phleum pratense/betula verrucosa. Allergol Immunopathol (Madr) 1995 Mar-Apr; 23 (2): 73-8
- Hedlin G, Graff-Lonnevig V, Heilborn H, et al. Immunotherapy with cat- and dog-dander extracts: V. Effects of 3 years of treatment. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991 May; 87 (5): 955-64
- Valovirta E, Koivikko A, Vanto T, et al. Immunotherapy in allergy to dog: a double-blind clinical study. Ann Allergy 1984 Jul; 53 (1): 85-8
- Van Metre Jr TE, Marsh DG, Adkinson Jr NF, et al. Immunotherapy for cat asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988 Dec; 82 (6): 1055-68
- Varney VA, Edwards J, Tabbah K, et al. Clinical efficacy of specific immunotherapy to cat dander: a double-blind placebocontrolled trial. Clin Exp Allergy 1997 Aug; 27 (8): 860-7
- Malling HJ, Djurup R, Sondergaard I, et al. Clustered immunotherapy with yellow jacket venom: evaluation of the influence of time interval on in vivo and in vitro parameters. Allergy 1985 Jul; 40 (5): 373-83

- Mosbech H, Malling HJ, Biering I, et al. Immunotherapy with yellow jacket venom: a comparative study including three different extracts, one adsorbed to aluminium hydroxide and two unmodified. Allergy 1986 Feb; 41 (2): 95-103
- Haugaard L, Dahl R, Jacobsen L. A controlled dose-response study of immunotherapy with standardized, partially purified extract of house dust mite: clinical efficacy and side effects. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1993 Mar; 91 (3): 709-22
- 18. McHugh SM, Lavelle B, Kemeny DM, et al. A placebo-controlled trial of immunotherapy with two extracts of Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus in allergic rhinitis, comparing clinical outcome with changes in antigen-specific IgE, IgG, and IgG subclasses. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1990 Oct; 86 (4 Pt 1): 521-31
- Wahn U, Schweter C, Lind P, et al. Prospective study on immunologic changes induced by two different Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus extracts prepared from whole mite culture and mite bodies. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988 Sep; 82 (3 Pt 1): 360-70
- Dreborg S, Agrell B, Foucard T, et al. A double-blind, multicenter immunotherapy trial in children, using a purified and standardized Cladosporium herbarum preparation: I. Clinical results. Allergy 1986 Feb; 41 (2): 131-40
- Malling HJ, Dreborg S, Weeke B. Diagnosis and immunotherapy of mould allergy: V. Clinical efficacy and side effects of immunotherapy with Cladosporium herbarum. Allergy 1986 Sep; 41 (7): 507-19
- Durham SR, Walker SM, Varga EM, et al. Long-term clinical efficacy of grass-pollen immunotherapy. N Engl J Med 1999 Aug 12; 341 (7): 468-75
- Malling HJ. Immunotherapy as an effective tool in allergy treatment. Allergy 1998 May; 53 (5): 461-72
- Abramson MJ, Puy RM, Weiner JM. Is allergen immunotherapy effective in asthma? A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1995 Apr; 151 (4): 969-74
- Reisman RE. Natural history of insect sting allergy: relationship of severity of symptoms of initial sting anaphylaxis to re-sting reactions. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992 Sep; 90 (3 Pt 1): 335-9
- Blaauw PJ, Smithuis LO. The evaluation of the common diagnostic methods of hypersensitivity for bee and yellow jacket venom by means of an in-hospital insect sting. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1985 May; 75 (5): 556-62
- Parker JL, Santrach PJ, Dahlberg MJ, et al. Evaluation of Hymenoptera-sting sensitivity with deliberate sting challenges: inadequacy of present diagnostic methods. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1982 Feb; 69 (2): 200-7
- 28. Muller U, Berchtold E, Helbling A. Honeybee venom allergy: results of a sting challenge 1 year after stopping successful venom immunotherapy in 86 patients. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991 Mar; 87 (3): 702-9
- Hunt KJ, Valentine MD, Sobotka AK, et al. A controlled trial of immunotherapy in insect hypersensitivity. N Engl J Med 1978 Jul 27; 299 (4): 157-61
- Hamilton RG, Adkinson Jr NF. Quantitation of antigen-specific immunoglobulin G in human serum: II. Comparison of radioimmunoprecipitation and solid-phase radioimmunoassay techniques for measurement of immunoglobulin G specific for a complex allergen mixture (yellow jacket venom). J Allergy Clin Immunol 1981 Jan; 67 (1): 14-21
- Mosbech H, Osterballe O. Does the effect of immunotherapy last after termination of treatment? Follow-up study in patients with grass pollen rhinitis. Allergy 1988 Oct; 43 (7): 523-9

- Hedlin G, Heilborn H, Lilja G, et al. Long-term follow-up of patients treated with a three-year course of cat or dog immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995 Dec; 96 (6 Pt 1): 879-5
- Jacobsen L, Nuchel Petersen B, Wihl JA, et al. Immunotherapy with partially purified and standardized tree pollen extracts:
 IV. Results from long-term (6-year) follow-up. Allergy 1997 Sep; 52 (9): 914-20
- Settipane RJ, Hagy GW, Settipane GA. Long-term risk factors for developing asthma and allergic rhinitis: a 23-year followup study of college students. Allergy Proc 1994 Jan-Feb; 15 (1): 21-5
- Corren J. Allergic rhinitis and asthma: how important is the link? J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997 Feb; 99 (2): S781-6
- Jacobsen L, Dreborg S, Møll C, et al. Immunotherapy as a preventive treatment [abstract]. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1996; 97: 232
- Valovirta E. Capacity of specific immunotherapy in prevention of allergic asthma in children: the Preventive Allergy Treatment Study (PAT). J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 1997 Sep-Oct; 7 (5): 369-70
- Des Roches A, Paradis L, Menardo JL, et al. Immunotherapy with a standardized Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus extract: VI. Specific immunotherapy prevents the onset of new sensitizations in children. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997 Apr; 99 (4): 450-3
- Calkhoven PG, Aalbers M, Schilte PP, et al. Newly generated IgE antibodies to Dermatophagoides pteronyssinus in children are directed against components distinct from Der p I and Der p II. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991 Aug; 88 (2): 265-71
- Sigurs N, Hattevig G, Kjellman B, et al. Appearance of atopic disease in relation to serum IgE antibodies in children followed up from birth for 4 to 15 years. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1994 Oct; 94 (4): 757-63
- 41. Croner S, Kjellman NI. Natural history of bronchial asthma in childhood: a prospective study from birth up to 12-14 years of age. Allergy 1992 Apr; 47 (2 Pt 2): 150-7
- 42. Guillet G, Guillet MH. Natural history of sensitizations in atopic dermatitis. A 3-year follow-up in 250 children: food allergy and high risk of respiratory symptoms. Arch Dermatol 1992 Feb; 128 (2): 187-92
- 43. Kjellman B, Dalen G. Long-term changes in inhalant allergy in asthmatic children. Allergy 1986 Jul; 41 (5): 351-6
- Kjellman NI. Atopic allergy and serum IgE concentrations in randomly selected children followed up from 8 to 12 years of age. Allergy 1984 Aug; 39 (6): 443-50
- Kjellman NI. Natural course of asthma and allergy in childhood. Pediatr Allergy Immunol 1994; 5 Suppl. 6: 13-8
- van Asperen PP, Kemp AS. The natural history of IgE sensitisation and atopic disease in early childhood. Acta Paediatr Scand 1989 Mar; 78 (2): 239-45
- Adkinson Jr NF, Eggleston PA, Eney D, et al. A controlled trial of immunotherapy for asthma in allergic children. N Engl J Med 1997 Jan 30; 336 (5): 324-1
- Stewart GE II, Lockey RF. Systemic reactions from allergen immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992 Oct; 90 (4 Pt 1): 567-78
- Hejjaoui A, Ferrando R, Dhivert H, et al. Systemic reactions occurring during immunotherapy with standardized pollen extracts. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992 May; 89 (5): 925-33
- Karaayvaz M, Erel F, Caliskaner Z, et al. Systemic reactions due to allergen immunotherapy. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 1999 Jan-Feb; 9 (1): 39-44

- Toubi E, Kessel A, Blant A, et al. Follow-up after systemic adverse reactions of immunotherapy. Allergy 1999 Jun; 54 (6): 617-20
- Gozalo Reques F, Estrada Rodriguez JL, Martin Hurtado S, et al. Patient satisfaction and allergen immunotherapy. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol 1999 Mar-Apr; 9 (2): 101-5
- Cooke RA, Banard JH, Hebald S, et al. Serological evidence of immunity with coexisting sensitization in a type of human allergy (hay fever). J Exp Med 1935; 62: 733-51
- Lichtenstein LM, Norman PS, Winkenwerder WL, et al. In vitro studies of human ragweed allergy changes in cellular and humoral activity associated with specific desensitization. J Clin Invest 1966; 45: 1126-36
- Djurup R. The subclass nature and clinical significance of the IgG antibody response in patients undergoing allergenspecific immunotherapy. Allergy 1985 Oct; 40 (7): 469-86
- Oehling A, Sanz ML, Garcia BE. Immunological parameters in the immunotherapy follow-up. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1992: 99: 474-7
- 57. Urbanek R, Kemeny DM, Richards D. Sub-class of IgG antibee venom antibody produced during bee venom immunotherapy and its relationship to long-term protection from bee stings and following termination of venom immunotherapy. Clin Allergy 1986 Jul; 16 (4): 317-22
- Reid MJ, Moss RB, Hsu YP, et al. Seasonal asthma in northern California: allergic causes and efficacy of immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1986 Oct; 78 (4 Pt 1): 590-600
- Palma-Carlos ML, Santos MC, Pedro E, et al. Development of immunoglobulins to venoms during specific immunotherapy. Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1999 Mar; 31 (3): 71-2
- Kowalski ML, Jutel M. Mechanisms of specific immunotherapy of allergic diseases. Allergy 1998 May; 53 (5): 485-92
- Devey ME, Wilson DV, Wheeler AW. The IgG subclasses of antibodies to grass pollen allergens produced in hay fever patients during hyposensitization. Clin Allergy 1976 May; 6 (3): 227-36
- Nakagawa T.IgG subclass antibodies in response to house dust mite immunotherapy. N Engl Reg Allergy Proc 1987 Nov-Dec; 8 (6): 423-8
- 63. van Neerven RJ, Wikborg T, Lund G, et al. Blocking antibodies induced by specific allergy vaccination prevent the activation of CD4+ T cells by inhibiting serum-IgE-facilitated allergen presentation. J Immunol 1999 Sep 1; 163 (5): 2944-52
- Daeron M, Malbec O, Latour S, et al. Regulation of high-affinity IgE receptor-mediated mast cell activation by murine low-affinity IgG receptors. J Clin Invest 1995 Feb; 95 (2): 577-85
- Ohashi Y, Nakai H, Okamoto H, et al. Significant correlation between symptom score and Igg4 antibody titer following long-term immunotherapy for perennial allergic rhinitis. Ann Otol Rhinol Laryngol 1997; 106: 483-9
- De Garcia-Robaina JC, la Torre-Morin F, Vazquez-Moncholi C, et al. The natural history of Apis-specific IgG and IgG4 in beekeepers. Clin Exp Allergy 1997; 27: 418-23
- 67. Gehlhar K, Schlaak M, Becker W, et al. Monitoring allergen immunotherapy of pollen-allergic patients: the ratio of allergen-specific IgG4 to IgG1 correlates with clinical outcome. Clin Exp Allergy 1999 Apr; 29 (4): 497-506
- Pastorello EA, Pravettoni V, Incorvaia C, et al. Clinical and immunological effects of immunotherapy with alum-absorbed grass allergoid in grass-pollen-induced hay fever. Allergy 1992 Aug; 47 (4 Pt 1): 281-90
- Djurup R, Osterballe O. IgG subclass antibody response in grass pollen-allergic patients undergoing specific immunotherapy: prognostic value of serum IgG subclass antibody

- levels early in immunotherapy. Allergy 1984 Aug; 39 (6): 433-1
- Djurup R, Malling HJ. High IgG4 antibody level is associated with failure of immunotherapy with inhalant allergens. Clin Allergy 1987 Sep; 17 (5): 459-68
- Ebner C. Immunological mechanisms operative in allergen-specific immunotherapy. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1999 May; 119 (1): 1-5
- Rolland J, O'Hehir R. Immunotherapy of allergy: anergy, deletion, and immune deviation. Curr Opin Immunol 1998 Dec; 10 (6): 640-5
- 73. Mosmann TR, Sad S. The expanding universe of T-cell subsets: Th1, Th2 and more. Immunol Today 1996 Mar; 17 (3): 138-46
- Romagnani S. The Th1/Th2 paradigm. Immunol Today 1997 Jun; 18 (6): 263-6
- Zhu Z, Homer RJ, Wang Z, et al. Pulmonary expression of interleukin-13 causes inflammation, mucus hypersecretion, subepithelial fibrosis, physiologic abnormalities, and eotaxin production. J Clin Invest 1999 Mar; 103 (6): 779-88
- Yang X, Wang S, Fan Y, et al. IL-10 deficiency prevents IL-5 overproduction and eosinophilic inflammation in a murine model of asthma-like reaction. Eur J Immunol 2000, 30: 382-91
- Abbas AK, Murphy KM, Sher A. Functional diversity of helper T lymphocytes. Nature 1996 Oct 31; 383 (6603): 787-93
- Secrist H, Chelen CJ, Wen Y, et al. Allergen immunotherapy decreases interleukin 4 production in CD4+ T cells from allergic individuals. J Exp Med 1993 Dec 1; 178 (6): 2123-30
- O'Brien RM, Byron KA, Varigos GA, et al. House dust mite immunotherapy results in a decrease in Der p 2-specific IFNgamma and IL-4 expression by circulating T lymphocytes. Clin Exp Allergy 1997 Jan; 27 (1): 46-51
- Varney VA, Hamid QA, Gaga M, et al. Influence of grass pollen immunotherapy on cellular infiltration and cytokine mRNA expression during allergen-induced late-phase cutaneous responses. J Clin Invest 1993 Aug; 92 (2): 644-51
- 81. Yamashita N, Takeno M, Kaneko S, et al. Therapeutic effects of preferential induction of mite-specific T helper 0 clones. Clin Exp Immunol 1997 Aug; 109 (2): 332-41
- Jutel M, Pichler WJ, Skrbic D, et al. Bee venom immunotherapy results in decrease of IL-4 and IL-5 and increase of IFNgamma secretion in specific allergen-stimulated T cell cultures. J Immunol 1995 Apr 15; 154 (8): 4187-94
- Li Y, Simons FE, Jay FT, et al. Allergen-driven limiting dilution analysis of human IL-4 and IFN-gamma production in allergic rhinitis and clinically tolerant individuals. Int Immunol 1996 Jun; 8 (6): 897-904
- 84. Bellinghausen I, Metz G, Enk AH, et al. Insect venom immunotherapy induces interleukin-10 production and a Th2-to-Th1 shift, and changes surface marker expression in venom-allergic subjects. Eur J Immunol 1997 May; 27 (5): 1131-9
- Akoum H, Tsicopoulos A, Vorng H, et al. Venom immunotherapy modulates interleukin-4 and interferon-gamma messenger RNA expression of peripheral T lymphocytes. Immunology 1996 Apr; 87 (4): 593-8
- 86. Akdis CA, Akdis M, Blesken T, et al. Epitope-specific T cell tolerance to phospholipase A2 in bee venom immunotherapy and recovery by IL-2 and IL-15 in vitro. J Clin Invest 1996 Oct 1; 98 (7): 1676-83
- 87. McHugh SM, Deighton J, Stewart AG, et al. Bee venom immunotherapy induces a shift in cytokine responses from a TH-1 to a TH-1dominant pattern: comparison of rush and conventional immunotherapy. Clin Exp Allergy 1995 Sep; 25 (9): 828-38

- 88. Ebner C, Siemann U, Bohle B, et al. Immunological changes during specific immunotherapy of grass pollen allergy: reduced lymphoproliferative responses to allergen and shift from TH2 to TH1 in T-cell clones specific for Phl p 1, a major grass pollen allergen. Clin Exp Allergy 1997 Sep; 27 (9): 1007-5
- Yang X, Gieni RS, Mosmann TR, et al. Chemically modified antigen preferentially elicits induction of Th1-like cytokine synthesis patterns in vivo. J Exp Med 1993 Jul 1; 178 (1): 349-53
- Gieni RS, Yang X, HayGlass KT. Allergen-specific modulation of cytokine synthesis patterns and IgE responses in vivo with chemically modified allergen. J Immunol 1993 Jan 1; 150 (1): 302-10
- Benjaponpitak S, Oro A, Maguire P, et al. The kinetics of change in cytokine production by CD4 T cells during conventional allergen immunotherapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1999 Mar; 103 (3 Pt 1): 468-75
- Ishizaka A, Joh K, Shibata R, et al. Regulation of IgE and IgG4 synthesis in patients with hyper IgE syndrome. Immunology 1990 Jul; 70 (3): 414-6
- King CL, Nutman TB. IgE and IgG subclass regulation by IL-4 and IFN-gamma in human helminth infections: assessment by B cell precursor frequencies. J Immunol 1993 Jul 1; 151 (1): 458-65
- 94. Punnonen J, Aversa G, Cocks BG, et al. Interleukin 13 induces interleukin 4-independent IgG4 and IgE synthesis and CD23 expression by human B cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1993 Apr 15; 90 (8): 3730-4
- Nonoyama S, Farrington ML, Ochs HD. Effect of IL-2 on immunoglobulin production by anti-CD40-activated human B cells: synergistic effect with IL-10 and antagonistic effect with IL-4. Clin Immunol Immunopathol 1994 Sep; 72 (3): 373-9
- 96. Milburn HJ, Poulter LW, Dilmec A, et al. Corticosteroids restore the balance between locally produced Th1 and Th2 cytokines and immunoglobulin isotypes to normal in sarcoid lung. Clin Exp Immunol 1997 Apr; 108 (1): 105-3
- Majori M, Bertacco S, Piccoli ML, et al. Specific immunotherapy downregulates peripheral blood CD4 and CD8 T-lymphocyte activation in grass pollen-sensitive asthma. Eur Respir J 1998 Jun; 11 (6): 1263-7
- Carlos AG, Carlos ML, Santos MA, et al. Immunotherapy and mast cell activation. Allerg Immunol (Paris) 1998 Oct; 30 (8): 257-8
- Nagata M, Tabe K, Hong Choo J, et al. Effect of immunotherapy on the production of eosinophil adhesion-inducing activity from mononuclear cells in house-dust-mite-sensitive bronchial asthma. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 1998 Sep; 117 Suppl. 1: 20-3
- Akoum H, Duez C, Vorng H, et al. Early modifications of chemokine production and mRNA expression during rush venom immunotherapy. Cytokine 1998 Sep; 10 (9): 706-12

Correspondence and offprints: Dr Xi Yang, Department of Medical Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Manitoba, Room 523, 730 William Avenue, Winnipeg, Manitoba, R3E OW3, Canada.

E-mail: yangxi@cc.umanitoba.ca